## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2 3	BARRY HARRIS,	Electronically Filed ) DOCKET NO. A 902 2023 03:40 PM
4 5	Appellant,	) DIST. CASE NO. Etizabeth 98.5 Byown ) Clerk of Supreme Court
6	VS.	
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
8	Respondent.	
10   11	APPELLANT'S	OPENING BRIEF
12   13   14   15	DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, Esq. Nevada Bar No.: 10134 <b>DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, CHTD.</b> 601 LAS VEGAS BOULEVARD PHONE: (702) 474-7554	STEVE WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Clark County Courthouse 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
16	FAX: (702) 474-4210	Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- Direct Appeal Case Number in Nevada Supreme Court: 76774
- Appeal from denial of Petition for Post-Conviction Writ: 83516
- Transfer to Appeal to Court of Appeals: 83516-A
- Direct Appeal Notice of Appeal filed: August 21, 2018;
- Remittitur from direct appeal filed January 13, 2020;
- Petition for Post-Conviction Writ filed on April 21, 2020;
- Appeal from denial of Post-Conviction Writ filed on September 16,
- Order Dismissing Appeal from denial of Post-Conviction Writ filed
- Remittitur of Dismissal of Appeal from denial of Post-Conviction
- Amended District Order denying Post-Conviction Writ filed January
- Notice of appeal from Amended District Order denying Post-

# ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW WAS HARRIS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN TH

WAS HARRIS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS POST CONVICTION WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS WAS PRESENTED WITHOUT HARRIS BEING PRESENT OR BEING ABLE TO TESTIFY

WAS HARRIS DENIED THE AUTONOMY TO MAKE FUNDAMENTAL CHOICES ABOUT HIS OWN DEFENSE THEREBY DENYING HIM EFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION OF APPELLATE COUNSEL

WAS TRIAL COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PURSUE A WRIT OF MANDAMUS IN THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT REGARDING THE VIOLATION OF HARRIS' CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS IN JUSTICE COURT

DID CUMULATIVE ERRORS OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL RENDER TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Barry Harris ("Harris") appeals form an Order of the Honorable Justice Christy Craig of the Eighth Judicial District Court denying relief on his Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging his restraint on conviction and sentence after jury trial and conviction.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

## **Prologue**

Harris was not present at the evidentiary hearing on his Writ of Habeas Corpus and was unable to provide testimony that would have been in direct conflict

with the testimony given by his trial and appellate Counsel. Harris would have testified that his trial counsel and appellate counsel were ineffective. Specifically, Harris would have testified to meritorious legal issues not raised at the trial court level and on appeal, and that there were several cumulative errors that led trial and appellate counsel to be ineffective.

Due to these errors, it is respectfully requested that the Court grant the following relief: (1) consider the issue of the denial of the writ of mandamus and dismiss the case based on the State's disregard of Harris' rights at the preliminary hearing, (2) overturn his conviction based on ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and/or (3) remand back to district court and conduct an evidentiary hearing with Harris present to testify.

## **Justice Court Proceedings**

On or about August 23, 2017, Appellant was charged in the Las Vegas Justice Court with nine counts, including burglary with use of a deadly weapon, kidnapping, assault with a deadly weapon, battery with use of a deadly weapon, domestic battery by strangulation, domestic battery resulting in substantial bodily harm, preventing, or dissuading a witness, carrying a concealed weapon, and

ownership of a gun by a prohibited person. (Volume 2, Appellant's Appendix, pp. 461-4).<sup>1</sup>

Following brief competency proceedings, a preliminary hearing was set on October 26, 2017, and November 3, 2017. The alleged victim, Nicole Dotson, failed to attend despite a valid subpoena. (2 AA, 454-60); (2 AA, 452-3). The State requested a material witness warrant, and Ms. Dotson was subsequently arrested. The preliminary hearing was bifurcated into two hearings, taking place on December 14, 2017, and January 16, 2018. Appellant was bound over to the Eighth Judicial District Court on all charges. (2 AA, 332-434).

On both prior dates set for the Preliminary Hearing, Harris was present in custody and ready to proceed, but the alleged victim failed to appear. The State moved to continue the case and requested a material witness warrant for the named victim. (2 AA, 454-60).

"Essentially what happened is we were in contact with her. She did, Nicole Dotson, the named victim, she did identify herself. She was informed of the court date, we did text her a copy of the subpoena and she verified the address that we mailed the subpoena to as well and then she refused to promise to appear and we lost contact with her and we weren't able to get a hold of her again."

(2 AA, 455).

Hereinafter cited as: (Volume Number, AA, page number(s))

At no point was the prosecutor under oath. Additionally, the prosecutor neither previously submitted an affidavit pursuant to *Hill*,<sup>2</sup> nor did the Defendant stipulate to an oral motion for a continuance pursuant to *Bustos*.<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Ramsey from the Clark County Public Defender's Office was representing Harris during this hearing. Mr. Ramsey objected Mr. Ramsey argued that "[t]he State hasn't met their due diligence to serve her [Ms. Dotson] with a subpoena. There is no personal service." (2 AA, 456). Mr. Ramsey also argued that Nevada law does not support serving a subpoena via text message, and while there is some language in support of oral promises to appear, the alleged victim specifically told the State she would not appear. (2 AA, 456).

Despite failing to submit a written affidavit pursuant to *Hill*, or being sworn under oath pursuant to *Bustos*, and over Harris' objection, the Judge Tobiassian granted the continuance, set an Order to Show Cause hearing for November 2, and reset the preliminary hearing for November 9, 2017. (2 AA, 459). Judge Tobiassian acknowledged the State's motion did not comply with *Hill* nor *Bustos*, nor did the State's attempts to serve the alleged victim constitute service as defined by statute. (2 AA, 458).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hill v. Sherriff of Clark County, 85 Nev. 234 (Nev. 1969).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bustos v. Sherriff, 87 Nev. 622 (Nev. 1971).

Harris had been in custody almost 60 days when the case was continued over his objection.

#### Writ of Mandamus

On November 3, 2017, Mr. Ramsey filed a Writ of Mandamus in District Court Case No.: A-17-764110-W, based on the continuance granted by Judge Tobiassian in Justice Court. (2 AA, 440-51). The Writ of Mandamus was assigned to the Honorable Judge Douglas Williams. (2 AA, 435). Harris remained in custody while the Writ of Mandamus was pending. Judge Smith found the continuance was granted for good cause as outlined by the State at the October 26, 2017, hearing. (2 AA, 438-9). On that basis, the Writ of Mandamus was denied. *Id*.

## **District Court Proceedings**

On January 17, 2018, Harris was charged by way of Information with the charges bound over from justice court. (2 AA, 466-7). On April 9, 2018, the State filed an Amended Information, removing Count 9 charging ex-felon in possession. (Id).

Harris invoked his right to a speedy trial within 60 days. However, Harris' Trial Counsel requested, and was granted, a short continuance over Harris' objection.

On April 9, 2018, the Petitioner proceeded to jury trial. After five (5) days of trial, on April 16, 2018, the jury returned its Verdict, as follows: Count 1 – Not Guilty; Count 2 – Guilty of First-Degree Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm; Count 3 – Guilty of Assault; Count 4 – Guilty of Battery Constituting Domestic Violence; Count 5 – Not Guilty; Count 6 – Guilty of Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm Constituting Domestic Violence; Count 7 – Not Guilty; and Count 8 – Not Guilty.

On August 14, 2019, Petitioner appeared for sentencing. Petitioner was adjudged guilty, consistent with the jury's verdict, and was sentenced, as follows: Count 2 – LIFE in the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDC"), with the possibility of parole after fifteen (15) years; Count 3 – six (6) months in the Clark County Detention Center ("CCDC"), concurrent with Count 2; Count 4 – six (6) months in CCDC, concurrent with Count 3; Count 6 – twenty-four (24) to sixty (60) months in NDC, concurrent with Count 2. The Court credited Petitioner with 351 days' time served. Petitioner's Judgment of Conviction was filed on August 16, 2018. (2 AA, 467).

///

## **Direct Appeal**

On August 21, 2018, the petitioner filed a pro per Notice of Appeal. On December 19, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the petitioner's conviction. The remittitur was issued on January 16, 2020.

On February 7, 2020, the petitioner filed a second Notice of Appeal. However, on March 6, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court dismissed the petitioner's second appeal. The remittitur for the second appeal was issued on April 1, 2020.

## **Pro Per Post-Conviction Petition**

On August 21, 2018, Petitioner filed a pro per Notice of Appeal. On December 19, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner's conviction. Remittitur issued on January 16, 2020. (2 AA, 295-303).

On February 7, 2020, Petitioner filed a second Notice of Appeal. On March 6, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court dismissed Petitioner's second appeal. Remittitur issued on April 1, 2020. (1 AA, 268-70); (2 AA, 467).

## **Evidentiary Hearing**

On August 26, 2021, an evidentiary hearing was conducted before Judge Christy Craig. (1 AA, 42-100). Prior to the hearing, Harris (the petitioner) filed a motion requesting to be transported to the hearing, but he was not transported, and no arrangements were made for him to appear by telephone. (1 AA, 101-3). Judge Craig offered petitioner's counsel, Mr. Lichtenstein, the option to bifurcate the

hearing so that Harris could testify separately, but counsel expressed readiness to proceed without Harris being present and believed a bifurcated hearing was unnecessary. (1 AA, 44-6).

During the evidentiary hearing, three witnesses were called to testify: Scott Ramsey, Damian Sheets, and Kelsey Bernstein. (1 AA, 43). Scott Ramsey, who works for the Public Defender's Office, represented Harris in Justice Court and was the attorney who filed the original Writ of Mandamus to District Court. (1 AA, 94-5). Damian Sheets represented Harris in District Court and during the trial. (1 AA, 78-82). Kelsey Bernstein represented Harris on the direct appeal. (1 AA, 83-4).

Mr. Ramsey testified that he was ready to file an appeal of Judge Smith's denial of the Writ of Mandamus, challenging the decision of Judge Tobiassian in Justice Court for granting multiple continuances to the State, which Mr. Ramsey believed violated the principles established in the *Bustos* and *Hill* cases. However, Harris informed Mr. Ramsey that he did not want to pursue an appeal of Judge Smith's order denying the Writ of Mandamus.

Mr. Sheets took over as Harris' representative in the District Court. He testified that Harris did not express a desire to pursue an appeal or seek a Writ of Mandamus to the Nevada Supreme Court. (1 AA, 77-8). Instead, Harris wanted to proceed to trial as quickly as possible. Mr. Sheets stated that he provided Harris

with discovery materials, including police reports and witness statements with personally identifying information redacted. (1 AA, 78). However, he did not provide Harris with the body cam evidence directly, although he did inform Harris about its contents. (*Id.*).

Ms. Bernstein, who prepared the direct appeal for Harris, also testified. (1 AA, 84-7). She explained that it was her strategic decision not to include a claim in the direct appeal related to the Writ of Mandamus or any error related to the Justice Court proceedings. (1 AA, 84).

Ms. Bernstein testified that she believed it was not appropriate to challenge Judge Smith's denial of the Writ of Mandamus in the direct appeal from the Judgment of Conviction. (1 AA, 85). She thought that there were more significant issues to focus on in the direct appeal, so she chose not to include errors in the Justice Court proceedings in the appeal. (1 AA, 84).

After considering the testimony of the witnesses and the arguments presented by Petitioner Counsel, the court ultimately denied the Petition. (1 AA, 98-100). A written order reflecting this decision was filed on September 30, 2021. (1 AA, 33-41).

## **Order Denying Petition**

In denying Harris' claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the District Court considered the testimony of Mr. Sheets and Mr. Ramsey, who both stated that

Harris expressed a desire to proceed to trial quickly and did not wish to appeal the denial of the writ of mandamus. (1 AA, 39).

Similarly, in rejecting Harris' claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the District Court relied on Ms. Bernstein's testimony, where she explained that her decision not to appeal the denial of the writ of mandamus was a strategic choice. (1 AA, 39).

Based on this testimony, the District Court found that Harris actively participated in the decision-making process and made specific choices regarding the appeals, which led to the denial of his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

## **Prior Appeal Of Order Denying Petition Under SC Case No.: 83516**

On September 16, 2021, Harris filed a notice of appeal challenging the District Court's order denying his Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus. (Nevada Appellate Court Case No.: 83516, Dkt. #21-26889). The matter was remanded for appointment of counsel on October 11, 2021. (Dkt. #21-29139). Current Counsel was appointed shortly thereafter in the District Court on October 21, 2021.

The opening brief was filed on April 18, 2022. (*Case No.:* 83516: Dkt. #22-12176). The matter was transferred to the Court of Appeals on August 15, 2022. (*Case No.:* 83516: Dkt. #22-25459). On August 29, 2022, the appeal was dismissed

by the Court of Appeals based on a finding of a jurisdictional defect. (1 AA, 27-9). Specifically, the Court of appeals ruled that the District Court's order denying Harris' Petition did not address all the claims raised by Harris. (1 AA, 27-9); (*Court of Appeals Case No.:* 83516-A, Dkt. #22-27038).

The matter was transferred back to the Nevada Supreme Court and remittitur was issued on September 29, 2022. (*Case No.:* 83516: Dkt. #22-29893).

## **Subsequent District Court Proceedings**

On October 28, 2022, Harris filed a Motion for Amended Order or to Place on Calendar for Further Proceedings in front of Judge Craig in the District Court. (1 AA, 23-6). The motion was heard on December 15, 2022, at which time Judge Craig ordered the State to submit an Amended Order Denying Petition to chambers for filing.

On January 4, 2023, an Amended Order and Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law denying Harris' Petition was filed. (1 AA, 3-22). The Notice of Appeal was filed on January 25, 2023. (1 AA, 1-2). This appeal follows.

///

### **ARGUMENT**

HARRIS WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS POST CONVICTION WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS WAS PRESENTED WITHOUT HARRIS BEING PRESENT OR BEING ABLE TO TESTIFY

#### **Governing Law**

Criminal defendants generally have a right to be present at all levels of legal proceedings (*Gallego v. State*, 117 Nev. 348, 367, 23 P.3d 227, 240 (2001), abrogated on other grounds by *Nunnery v. State*, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235 (2011)); *see also, Kentucky v. Stincer*, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 96 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1987) (holding that a defendant has a due process right "to be present in his own person whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge") (*quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts*, 291 U.S. 97, 105-06, 54 S. Ct. 330, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934)).

However, this right is not absolute, and violations of the right to be present are reviewed for harmless error (*Gallego*, 117 Nev. at 367, 23 P.3d at 240; *Rose v. State*, 123 Nev. 194, 208, 163 P.3d 408, 417 (2007)).

A defendant must demonstrate that their absence prejudiced them (*Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 1001, 923 P.2d 1102, 1115 (1996)). The due process aspect of the right to be present is implicated when the defendant's absence would hinder a fair and just hearing (*Kirksey*, 112 Nev. at 1000, 923 P.2d at 1115). However, the

right is not violated when the defendant's presence would be useless or provide only a nominal benefit (*Stincer*, 482 U.S. at 745, *quoting Snyder*, 291 U.S. at 106-07).

## **Waiver of Appearance**

In this case, Harris was not present for the evidentiary hearing (1 AA, 101-3). The denial of the grounds raised in his Writ was primarily based on the unchallenged testimony of his trial counsel, Mr. Ramsey and Mr. Sheets, as well as appellate counsel, Ms. Bernstein (1 AA, 98-101; 1 AA, 39). Harris argues that his attorney, Mr. Lichtenstein, waived his appearance without his authorization. (1 AA, 44-7). This claim is supported by the record, as Harris expressed a clear desire and intention to be present at the hearing through his motions requesting transportation or a telephonic appearance. (1 AA, 212; 1 AA, 101).

Harris maintains that his proposed testimony would directly contradict the statements of his trial and appellate counsel. Specifically, he would have offered the following testimony:

- 1. That Harris did wish to file a writ of mandamus to the Nevada Supreme Court and that his counsel told him he would do so, stated to the district court that he would do so, and that no appeal was filed.
- 2. That Harris was told he could not invoke his speedy trial rights and independently pursue a Writ of Mandamus.

- 3. That his trial counsel did not provide certain body cam footage so he could be prepared for trial and/or make an informed decision whether to testify.
- 4. That he specifically directed his appellate counsel to raise the issue of the State's *Bustos* violations granting of continuances.
- 5. That he specifically directed his appellate counsel to raise the issue of his denial of a speedy trial and perjury claim (Grounds 8 and 9 of his Pro Per Petition).

It is speculation whether such testimony would ultimately result in a different ruling, but what is clear is that Harris had a fundamental right to testify to these matters as it related to his Petition. A fair and just hearing cannot be had without Harris at least having the opportunity to testify in opposition to that of his Trial and Appellate Counsel. Especially, when the District Court relied on their uncontested testimony in denying the Petition. Accordingly, relief is warranted, and the matter should be remanded back to District Court for Harris to testify.

HARRIS WAS DENIED THE AUTONOMY TO MAKE FUNDAMENTAL CHOICES ABOUT HIS OWN DEFENSE AND THEREFORE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION OF APPELLATE COUNSEL

## **Governing Law**

In order to establish that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must show that: counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness measured by prevailing professional norms; and counsel's deficient

State, supra, 112 Nev. at 988.

Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Counsel

Autonomy claims, meanwhile, are premised of

Autonomy claims, meanwhile, are premised on violations of a defendant's "right to make the fundamental choices about his own defense." *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 138 S. Ct. at 1500, 1511 (2018). The "right to defend" granted to the defendant "personally" in the Sixth Amendment protects not only his right to self-representation, *see Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 834, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L.

performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,

687-88 (1984); Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272, 277-78 (1995). The

Court may consider both prongs in any order and need not consider them both when

a defendant's showing on either prong is insufficient. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev.

980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). A defendant demonstrates that Counsel's

performance was deficient when he can establish that counsel made errors so grave

that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth

Amendment. Strickland v. Washington, supra, 466 U.S. at 687. To satisfy the

prejudice prong of the Strickland standard, the Defendant must establish a

reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have

pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Reeves v. State, 113 Nev.

959, 960, 944 P.2d 795, 796 (1997). A reasonable probability means a probability

sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the proceeding. Kirksey v.

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