IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BARRY HARRIS,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 04 2023 08:48 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 86029

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Habeas Relief Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010134 Dustin R. Marcello, CHTD. 601 Las Vegas Boulevard So. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 474-7554

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's attorney waived Appellant's appearance at the evidentiary hearing. Appellant makes no showing of prejudice by not attending as his attorney had not planned to call Appellant to testify.

Having the assistance of counsel does not mean the appointed attorney works as Appellant's legal assistant while Appellant represents himself. A defendant sets the objective of the representation, but the attorney makes the strategic decisions to achieve that objective.

When Appellant told his attorney the objective of the representation was to find him not guilty at trial as speedily as possible, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to file an appeal of the denial of the writ of mandamus. Doing so would have required Appellant to waive his speedy trial rights. Since he expected to be found not guilty at trial, this delay would have thwarted the objective of the representation.

The assorted complaints Appellant labels cumulative errors are meritless. When appellate counsel pursued several potentially meritorious claims on direct appeal, she was not ineffective for failing to dilute her argument with every colorable

claim Appellant demanded. Appellate counsel bore the responsibility of weeding out weaker claims to best showcase stronger arguments.

ARGUMENT

When adjudicating an appeal from the denial of habeas relief this Court gives deference to a district court's factual findings, but reviews the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013).

I. APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT A POST-CONVICTION EVIDENTIARY HEARING WAS NOT DENIED WHERE HIS ATTORNEY WAIVED HIS PRESENCE

Appellant did not have a constitutional right to be present at the evidentiary hearing. While he did have a statutory privilege to attend, his absence amounted to mere harmless error at most.

Appellant claims a right to be present at all levels of legal proceedings. Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB), p. 12 (*citing* Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 367, 23 P.3d 227, 240 (2001), abrogated by Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235 (2011), and Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S. Ct. 2658 (1987)).

¹ The AOB is not paginated in violation of Rule 32(a)(4) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP). To effectively cite this Court's attention to the appropriate pages of the AOB Respondent refers to the pages of the AOB as if they had been correctly paginated in compliance with NRAP 32(a)(4). Specifically, Respondent paginated the AOB with page 1 starting on the page containing

A. Appellant had no Constitutional Right to be Present

The right to be present does not apply to all levels of legal proceedings as argued by Appellant; rather, it applies to the stages of the criminal trial. Under Nevada law, "the defendant must be present at the arraignment, at every stage of the trial including the impaneling of the jury and the return of the verdict, and at the imposition of sentence." NRS 178.388(1) ("setting forth the constitutionally protected critical stages of trial." Evans v. State, 130 Nev. 1175 (2014)). This statute refers to trial stages on its face, not to post-conviction evidentiary hearings.

Federal law is similar. Under Rule 43(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, a defendant must be present at initial appearance, arraignment, plea, every stage of trial, and sentencing. He is not required at hearings involving a question of law. Id.

A defendant does not have an unlimited right to be present at every proceeding:

The right to be present is rooted in the Confrontation Clause and the Due Process Clause of the Federal Constitution. The confrontation aspect arises when the proceeding involves the presentation of evidence. The due process aspect has been recognized only to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by the defendant's absence. The right to be present is subject to harmless error analysis. The defendant must show that he was prejudiced by the absence.

7

Appellant's Statement of the Case and continuing therefrom in sequential numerical order.

<u>Gallego</u>, 117 Nev. at 367-68, 23 P.3d at 240 (quoting <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 1000, 923 P.2d 1102, 1115 (1996).

In <u>Gallego</u>, the defendant challenged his absence from in camera proceedings at which certain jurors were excused. <u>Id.</u> However, as no evidence at the proceedings implicated his confrontation rights, he could not show prejudice. <u>Id.</u>

Similarly, in Stincer, the defendant protested his absence from hearings to determine the competency of his child victims. 482 U.S. at 745, 107 S. Ct. at 2660. The Supreme Court of Kentucky held Stincer's rights were compromised because the federal and state constitutions provided a right to face the witnesses against him. Id. at 735, 107 S. Ct. at 2662-63. The United States Supreme Court reversed, holding Stincer's confrontation rights were not violated because his attorney was able to ask questions at the competency hearing and the children then testified in front of him at trial. Id. at 744, 107 S. Ct. at 2667. "Respondent has given no indication that his presence at the competency hearing in this case would have been useful in ensuring a more reliable determination as to whether the witnesses were competent to testify." Id. at 747, 107 S. Ct. at 2668. The Supreme Court held that nothing occurred during the competency hearings that affected the defendant's ability to defend against the actual criminal charges at trial.

Where the court did not make a ruling at a pre-trial hearing, the defendant was not prejudiced by his absence. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1127, 1140, 967 P.2d 1111,

1120 (1998). Where a sentencing panel reconvened to discuss the impact of a recent case, the defendant was not prejudiced. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 1001, 923 P.2d 1102, 1115 (1996). A conference call held before trial in the defendant's absence did not thwart due process as "the conference call was not during trial, jury selection, or arraignment, and there is no demonstration by Evans that he was prejudiced by his absence from the conference call." Evans v. State, 130 Nev. 1175 (2014).

When a defendant chose not to appear at a preliminary hearing, the State could not force him to do so under NRS 178.388. State v. Sargent, 122 Nev. 210, 214–15, 128 P.3d 1052, 1055 (2006) ("In NRS 178.388, the Legislature explicitly specified when a defendant must be present; therefore, we will not infer that the defendant must be present during other proceedings unless the defendant's absence will impair the justice court's ability to conduct a proceeding.").

"Because <u>Crawford</u> was concerned only with testimonial evidence introduced at trial, <u>Crawford</u> does not change our long-settled rule that the confrontation clause does not apply in sentencing proceedings." <u>United States v. Stone</u>, 432 F.3d 651, 654 (6th Cir. 2005), discussing <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004).

A post-conviction evidentiary hearing is not an arraignment, trial stage, or sentencing. Appellant's absence from the evidentiary hearing does not raise the constitutional concerns of a trial in absentia.

B. Appellant Waived the Statutory Right to Appear

Appellant had a statutory right to attend the hearing. <u>Gebers v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 500, 503-04, 50 P.3d 1092, 1094 (2002). In <u>Gebers</u>, the petitioners were not present at evidentiary hearings where evidence was adduced "regarding the merits of the claims raised," nor were they represented by counsel. <u>Id.</u> at 501, 50 P.3d at 1092-93. The district court made no effort to procure their presence. <u>Id.</u> at 502, 50 P.3d at 1093. This Court remanded the matters for evidentiary hearings on the merits of the petitioners' claims. <u>Id.</u> at 506, 50 P.3d at 1095-96.

Here, the facts differ greatly from those in <u>Gebers</u>. Appellant was represented at the hearing by appointed counsel. I AA 42, 44-45. Although a transport order had been signed directing that Appellant be brought to court, he was not transported. I AA 44-45. District Court allowed habeas counsel to decide whether to go forward, reset the hearing and/or bifurcate the hearing. I AA 46. Habeas counsel opted to waive Appellant's presence. I AA 45-46. Counsel likely made this decision because he had an out of state witness present and strategically determined that getting her back to court at future date might be problematic. I AA 46. Further, habeas counsel

made the strategic decision to not call Appellant as a witness at the evidentiary hearing. I AA 46.

None of the salient features of <u>Geber</u> are present here. Further, the particular facts of this case preclude a finding of error.

C. Counsel Validly Waived Appellant's Presence

Habeas counsel's decision to waive Appellant's presence precludes a finding of error. District Court deferred the question of whether to go forward or not to the strategic judgment call of habeas counsel. Since the Court allowed Appellant's attorney to make the choice there can be no error. Alternatively, any alleged error was invited error and as such this Court should decline to review it.

Appellant is bound by his attorney's waiver of his presence. An attorney represents a client and actions taken by counsel on the client's behalf bind the client:

For certain fundamental rights, the defendant must personally make an informed waiver. For other rights, however, waiver may be effected by action of counsel. 'Although there are basic rights that the attorney cannot waive without the fully informed and publicly acknowledged consent of the client, the lawyer has—and must have—full authority to manage the conduct of the trial.'

Gonzalez v. United States, 553 U.S. 242, 248, 128 S. Ct. 1765, 1769 (2008).

An attorney may waive his client's presence. In <u>Schultz v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 290, 535 P.2d 166 (1975), the appellant argued his attorney was not authorized to waive his presence at a continuance hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 292, 535 P.2d at 167. <u>Schultz</u> rejected this contention: "We find no error in the district court's acceptance of the waivers

proffered by appellant's counsel or in its denial of appellant's motion to dismiss." <u>Id.</u> Similarly, in <u>Bates v. State</u>, 84 Nev. 43, 45, 436 P.2d 27, 28 (1968), counsel waived his client's speedy trial rights in his absence, and also waived his absence. This Court found the waivers to be valid. Id. at 46, 436 P.2d at 29.

The record shows habeas counsel validly waived Appellant's presence. Further, the record demonstrates that counsel had a legitimate reason for doing so, the presence of an out of state witness and a determination that Appellant's testimony was not required. I AA 46. Thus, there was no error.

Alternatively, any error was invited since habeas counsel waived Appellant's presence and made the decision to go forward with the hearing. This Court has determined that "when a defendant participates in the alleged error, he is estopped from raising any objection on appeal." Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 38 P.3d 163 n.12 (2002), (citing Jones v. State, Nev. 613, 617, 600 P.2d 247, 250 (1979); Sidote v. State, 94 Nev. 762, 762-63, 587 P.2d 1317, 1318 (1978) (holding that defendant who invites district court action perceived as favorable to him may not then claim it as error on appeal)). In Rhyne, the defendant specifically asked the district court a to let him call a witness, and the district court complied. Id. 118 Nev. at 9, 38 P.3d at 168. When he later raised the issue of calling that witness on appeal, this Court held that he was estopped from doing so because it was invited error. Id. Habeas counsel made the decision to go forward with the hearing and opted to not call Appellant as

a witness. I AA 44-46. As such, any error in excluding Appellant from the hearing was invited and is not reviewable.

D. Any Error was Harmless

Appellant cannot demonstrate that any error had a substantial and injurious effect or influence on the outcome of the habeas proceeding.

"Violations of the right to be present are reviewed for harmless error." Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 194, 208, 163 P.3d 408, 417 (2007). Under NRS 178.598, any "error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness, based on whether the error had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under Chapman for constitutional trial error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001).

Since Appellant did not have a constitutional right to be present at the evidentiary hearing, he must demonstrate that any error had a substantial and injurious effect or influence on the outcome of the habeas proceeding. Regardless, under any standard, Appellant's complaints demonstrate nothing more substantive

than mere harmless error. Appellant alleges he was prejudiced because he was unable to challenge the testimony of trial and appellate counsel. AOB, p. 13-14. However, Appellant admits "[i]t is speculation whether such testimony would ultimately result in a different ruling[.]" AOB, p. 14. This admission precludes a finding that the alleged error had a substantial and injurious effect or influence on the outcome of the habeas proceeding.

E. Appellant Cannot Demonstrate Prejudice

Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice because any harm flows not from judicial encroachment upon his rights, but from habeas counsel's strategic decisions. Since Appellant did not have the right to the effective assistance of habeas counsel, he cannot demonstrate prejudice for any purpose. Even assuming he had such a right, habeas counsel's decisions were reasonable and thus would not warrant habeas relief.

While Appellant presents his claims as ones of judicial error, he really is attacking the strategic decisions of habeas counsel. It is undisputable that 1) District Court allowed habeas counsel to decide whether to go forward, reset the hearing and/or bifurcate the hearing; 2) habeas counsel opted to waive Appellant's presence; and 3) habeas counsel made the strategic decision to not call Appellant as a witness. I AA 45-46. In this case, any harm to Appellant flows not from judicial

encroachment upon Appellant's rights, but from habeas counsel's strategic decisions.

This distinction requires affirmance of the decision below. Appellant did not have the right to the effective assistance of habeas counsel. Halbert v. Michigan, 545 U.S. 605, 610, 125 S.Ct. 2582, 2587 (2005) (The right of assistance of counsel extends only to "first appeals as of right ... however, ... a state need not appoint counsel ... in discretionary appeals"); Brown v. McDaniel, 130 Nev. 565, 569, 331 P.3d 867, 870 (2014) ("there is no constitutional or statutory right to the assistance of counsel in noncapital post-conviction proceedings"); McKague v. Whitley, 112 Nev. 159, 164, 912 P.2d 255, 258 (1996) ("no right to effective assistance of counsel, let alone any constitutional or statutory right to counsel at all, [exists in] postconviction proceedings"). Thus, any harm flowing from habeas counsel's decisions to go forward with the evidentiary hearing, waive Appellant's presence and decline to present Appellant's testimony is simply not cognizable. Claims premised upon the actions of habeas counsel must be denied.

Even if this Court decides to ignore precedent without the requisite compelling need to do so, Appellant would still not be entitled to relief. <u>City of Reno v. Howard</u>, 130 Nev. 110, 113-14, 318 P.3d 1063, 1065 (2014); <u>Armenta-Carpio v. State</u>, 129 Nev. 531, 535, 306 P.3d 395, 398 (2013). Habeas counsel made a strategic decision to focus his efforts on demonstrating trial counsel was ineffective

for failing to bring the issue of the continuance in Justice Court to the Nevada Supreme Court's attention and appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue of the continuance on direct appeal. What Appellant alleges he would have testified to is irrelevant and/or unhelpful to those issues. As such, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice.

Appellant's claims of prejudice rest on the assertion he intended to testify.

AOB, p. 13-14. He alleges he would have testified as follows:

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